THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

FEB 14 2018

S.C. SUPREME COUR

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No.: 2017-002055

Cornell Devon Tyler, 326023,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina

Respondent.

PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The lower court erred by failing to find that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when he failed to call witnesses at trial, failed to fully develop an alibi defense and failed to request an alibi charge and/or object to the trial court's failure to give an alibi instruction. The lower court further committed an error of law by failing to properly rule upon the issues raised as required by Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007) and South Carolina Code Ann. § 17-27-80.
- II. The lower court erred by failing to grant a new trial on the allegations related to the testimony of James Gleaton.
- III. The lower court erred in failing to find resulting prejudice from trial counsel's failure to object to the trial court's omission of the permissive inference malice instruction.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law.¹ The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate

¹ Recently, in Smalls v. State, Op. No. 27764 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed February 7, 2018) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No.6 at 45-46, n.2), this Court held: In numerous cases, this Court has incorrectly stated an appellate court "gives great deference to the PCR court's . . . conclusions of law." See, e.g., Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). The court of appeals repeated our misstatement, quoting Porter. Smalls, 415 S.C. at 496, 783 S.E.2d at 820. We clarify that appellate courts review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. While we uphold the analysis and result of the following decisions, we now direct that none of these decisions should be read to suggest an appellate court gives any deference to a PCR court's conclusions of law: Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 10, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017); Gibbs v. State, 416 S.C. 209, 218, 785 S.E.2d 455, 459 (2016); McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 473, 746 S.E.2d 41, 45 (2013); Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 42, 723 S.E.2d 375, 378 (2012); Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011); Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011); Robinson v. State, 387 S.C. 568, 574, 693 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2010); Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010); Terry v. State, 383 S.C. 361, 371, 680 S.E.2d 277, 282 (2009); Jones v. State, 382 S.C. 589, 595, 677 S.E.2d 20, 23 (2009); Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009); Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 115, 665 S.E.2d 596, 599 (2008); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 100, 665 S.E.2d 164, 167 (2008); Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 73, 659 S.E.2d 140, 144 (2008); Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 529, 657 S.E.2d 771, 776 (2008); Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 515, 654 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2007); Watson v. State, 370 S.C. 68, 71, 634 S.E.2d 642, 643 (2006); Porter, 368 S.C. at 383, 629 S.E.2d at 356; Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 595, 627 S.E.2d 701, 705 (2006); Bright v. State, 365 S.C. 355, 358, 618 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2005); Winns v. State, 363 S.C. 414, 417, 611 S.E.2d 901, 903 (2005); Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005); Sellers v. State, 362 S.C. 182, 187, 607 S.E.2d 82, 84 (2005); Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 615, 606 S.E.2d 761, 763 (2004); Huggler v. State, 360 S.C. 627, 632, 602 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2004); Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 192, 569 S.E.2d 318, 322 (2002); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000).

court “will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Aiken County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted during the April 2006 term of the Aiken County Grand Jury for Murder (2006-GS-02-551), Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill (ABWIK) (2006-GS-02-551), and Possession of a Weapon during a Violent Crime (2006-GS-02-550). App. p. 758.

On November 27, 2006, Petitioner was called to trial in front of the Honorable Thomas A. Russo at the Aiken County Courthouse. Petitioner was represented by Byron Gipson, Esquire. On November 30, 2006, the trial concluded with a hung jury.

On January 7, 2008, Petitioner was called to trial in front of the Honorable Clifton Newman at the Aiken County Courthouse. App. p. 1 Petitioner was represented by Byron Gipson, Esquire. On January 10, 2008, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. Judge Newman sentenced Petitioner to a term of thirty years for Murder, a term of twenty years for ABWIK, and a term of five years for Possession of a Weapon. App. p. 756. A motion for reconsideration was timely filed. A hearing was held on April 30, 2008, by which the motion was denied. App. p. 766. Thereafter, a direct appeal was timely filed.

Joseph L. Savitz, III, of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense, perfected Petitioner’s appeal by filing an Anders Brief. App. p. 788. Thereafter, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Applicant’s conviction. State v. Cornell D. Tyler, Op. No. 2012-UP-448 (Ct. App. filed July 18, 2012). App. p. 797. The Remittitur was issued on February 21, 2013.

On December 17, 2013, an Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed. App. p. 822. Respondent submitted a Return July 29, 2014. App. p. 830. On December 20, 2016, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment to his Application, which amended his claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel as follows:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to effectively prepare and investigate prior to trial.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to obtain and/or communicate plea offers to Applicant.
3. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for seating two jurors exposed to media thus resulting in the Court's denial of the change of venue motion.
4. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to utilize witnesses at trial.
5. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to properly utilize defense witnesses at trial. Alternatively, newly discovered evidence and/or prosecutorial misconduct regarding witness James Gleaton.
6. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to fully impeach and cross-examine the State's witnesses and failure to pursue matters of prosecutorial misconduct alluded to in cross-examination and closing argument.
7. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to object to expert testimony that exceeded the expert's area of qualified expertise. Transcript pp. 417-419.
8. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to fully develop an alibi defense and request an alibi charge at trial.
9. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make contemporaneous objections to the State's closing argument.
10. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to object to the trial judge's failure to use the permissive inference language approved in State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417, 308 S.E.2d 781 (1983), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991), during the charge to the jury.
11. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failure to raise all meritorious issues on appeal; specifically, but not limited to trial counsel's arguments regarding venue and the "hand of one" charge.

12. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCPC, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

App. p. 844.

On January 24, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Bamberg County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Maite Murphy. App. p. 847. Petitioner was present and was represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. The State was represented by Julie A. Coleman, Assistant Attorney General. At the close of the hearing, both parties requested the opportunity to obtain the transcript prior to the submission of proposed orders. By way of an email prior to the receipt of the transcript, the parties were instructed that the Honorable Maite Murphy intended to deny the Application and only requested a proposed order from Respondent. On May 2, 2017, an Order of Dismissal was issued, which was filed on May 19, 2017. App. p. 1219.

On May 25, 2017, Petitioner, through counsel, submitted a Motion pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCPC, which was filed on May 30, 2017. App. p. 1245. By way of written Order, the Motion was denied on August 15, 2017. App. p. 1253. Thereafter, Petitioner through counsel, timely filed a Notice of Appeal, from which this Petition follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court erred by failing to find that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when he failed to call witnesses at trial, failed to fully develop an alibi defense and failed to request an alibi charge and/or object to the trial court's failure to give an alibi instruction. The lower court further committed an error of law by failing to properly rule upon the issues raised as required by Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007) and South Carolina Code Ann. § 17-27-80.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to establish that counsel was ineffective, a PCR applicant must show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for

counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, Rhodes v. State, 349 S.C. 25, 561 S.E.2d 606 (2002). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

By way of Amendment, Petitioner alleged that trial counsel failed to utilize witnesses at trial, failed to fully develop an alibi defense and failed to request an alibi charge at trial. In support of these allegations, Petitioner testified and called Marcia Blizzard, Andrew McCallister, Kaliah Felder, Tremain Tyler, Byron Gipson, Esquire, and Joseph Savitz, Esquire. In the Order of Dismissal, the lower court briefly summarized the testimony of each witness under the heading entitled "Summary of Relevant Testimony." Thereafter, the lower court committed an error of law by failing to properly address these issues under the heading entitled "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law." Additionally, the minimal findings made by the lower court require reversal since the evidence in the record does not support such findings.

By way of the Petitioner's Motion Pursuant to Rule 59(a) & (e), SCRCF, Petitioner noted that in Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007), the South Carolina Supreme Court made it clear that a post conviction relief judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented. See also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80. Petitioner argued that the lower court made erroneous findings, (i.e. stating that Attorney Savitz did not brief the alibi issue), failed to make complete findings and failed to address counsel's failure to request an alibi charge. App. pp. 1223, 1232, 1248-51. Petitioner submits that the lower court committed an error of law in failing to properly address the matters raised at the evidentiary hearing and in Petitioner's Rule 59, SCRCF, Motion. Also, the findings that were made are not supported by the record as discussed below. As a result, Petitioner submits that the

lower court's denial of relief must be reversed or at a minimum remanded for proper findings of fact and conclusions of law.

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Without a doubt, a criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but that duty is limited to reasonable investigation. When evaluating the reasonableness of counsel's conduct, the court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007). Moreover, while the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007).

In Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008), the this Court reversed the lower court and granted PCR relief when counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation. This Court held that a reasonable investigation includes interviewing witnesses and conducting an independent investigation of the facts of the case. Lounds, 380 S.C. at 460, 670 S.E.2d at 649, See Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007). In McKnight, this Court held: "This Court has recognized that strategic choices made by counsel after an incomplete investigation are reasonable 'only to the extent that reasonable professional judgment supports the limitations on the investigation.'" McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 45, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008) (quoting Von Dohlen v. State, 360 S.C. 598, 607, 602 S.E.2d 738, 743 (2004)).

In Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (S.C. 2014), Walker alleged that his counsel was ineffective in failing to conduct a complete investigation, specifically regarding a

potential alibi witness (Reed). At the evidentiary hearing, Reed testified that she was not contacted by counsel for Walker until the PCR stage. She could not provide specific dates or times, but she ultimately testified that she spent every weekend with Walker up until the time he was arrested. The Court of Appeals reversed the granting a new trial, holding that while trial counsel's failure to interview Reed was deficient performance, it was not prejudicial. *Id.* at 235–39, 723 S.E.2d at 615–17.

In reversing, the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's decision in *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995), that a failure to interview an alibi witness is only prejudicial where the witness's testimony, if true, would actually establish an alibi defense by making it physically impossible for the defendant to have committed the crime. *Id.* at 237–39, 723 S.E.2d at 616–17. The Court of Appeals concluded Reed's testimony did not establish an alibi because “it leaves open the possibility that Walker is guilty.” *Id.* at 239, 723 S.E.2d at 617.

After granting certiorari, this Court addressed the Court of Appeals reliance on *Glover* as follows:

Here, in reversing the PCR court, the court of appeals relied on this Court's language in *Glover* that “since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the accused's guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all” and its holding that a PCR petitioner is not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to interview a potential alibi witness who cannot present testimony that meets the legal definition of an alibi. *Glover*, 318 S.C. at 498, 458 S.E.2d at 540. In *Glover*, the petitioner was convicted of crimes that occurred in Williamsburg County and sought PCR on the basis his trial counsel failed to contact alibi witnesses who would have testified that he was in Florida at 8:00 a.m. on the day the crimes were committed. *Id.* at 497, 458 S.E.2d at 539. The Court found that because the crimes occurred at 8:30 p.m. and the drive between the petitioner's location in Florida and Williamsburg County was only approximately six and a half hours, the fact he was allegedly in Florida that morning did not make it physically impossible for him to have committed the crimes. *Id.* at 498, 458 S.E.2d at 540. Therefore, the Court held the alibi witnesses were not sufficient to create an alibi defense and the petitioner was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to interview them. *Id.*

The court of appeals found Reed's testimony did not qualify as an alibi because "her testimony does not account for Walker's whereabouts on March 2, 2002, such that it was physically impossible that he committed the crimes." Therefore, the court concluded that under Glover, Walker could not establish the prejudice prong. Given our limited scope of review over findings of the PCR court, this was error. Moreover, the court of appeals misapprehended the applicability of Glover to this case.

Thereafter, this Court explained: "Unlike Glover where the testimony of the alibi witnesses could have been true and the petitioner still could have committed the crime, it is not possible for Reed's testimony to be true and for Walker to have committed the crime." Id. at 406-7, 756 S.E.2d at 147. Here, the lower court failed to find that the testimony offered at the evidentiary hearing established that it was not possible for Petitioner to have committed the crime.

In the instant case, Petitioner testified at trial in detail regarding the events from the afternoon of August 26, 2005 through the early morning hours of August 27, 2005. App. p. 554-565. He had a cookout at his house; then, he played video games and hung out at his house with his brother and Johnny Miles. App. pp. 554-5. Around 11:00 p.m., his friend Misty came by on her way to the club, and she wanted to know if she could come by afterwards. App. p. 556. He went to bed and his brother was still playing video games. App. p. 557. He heard knocking around 4:00 a.m. App. p. 558. He thought it was Misty, but it was Edward Walker (hereinafter "Walker"). App. p. 558. Mr. Walker wanted to borrow twenty dollars. App. p. 559. He gave Walker the money and told him to leave since Walker had previously gotten into an altercation with his brother over a girl. App. p. 559. He closed the door, laid back down, heard shots, waited a minute, got up, went outside, did not see anybody or anything, so he went back and laid down. App. p. 560. After a few minutes, Walker was back knocking on his door, he explained:

I opened the door. He told me, "I believe something happened" which I asked him what happened, and he wouldn't tell me what happened. He just said, "You just need to get from around here." So, at that point, I closed the door. I got my brother and Mr. Johnny Miles up. I said, "Man, Walker said something happened. We need to get up and leave. I don't know what it is or what happened."

App. p. 561, lns. 12-20. He was going outside to make a call when Misty pulled up. App. p. 563. Mr. Miles offered that they could go to his niece's house, and Misty took them there. App. pp. 563-5. Johnny Miles, Tremain Tyler nor Misty were called at the second trial.

In contrast to Petitioner's testimony, Walker testified that he went to John Hartwell's house with Kendall Seawright and Willie Ware. App. pp. 198-99. Mr. Seawright wanted to go to Petitioner's house, so they did. App. pp. 199-200. He went to the side of the house to relieve himself, he saw headlights, heard shots and ran back out front where he saw Tremain shooting at a car driving away. App. pp. 200-201. He hopped on the roof of the car as it was pulling out and saw Petitioner with a gun in his lap. App. p. 201. He remained on the roof as they followed the vehicle, Petitioner shot several times, he saw the vehicle flipping, and they took off. App. pp. 201-3.

On cross-examination, trial counsel pointed out numerous inconsistencies in the stories of Kendall Seawright, Edward Walker and Willie Ware and exposed their joint meetings in the Solicitor's office while preparing for trial. In closing, counsel argued that the witnesses had new stories, implicating Petitioner, after a powwow in the Solicitor's office. App. p. 647, lns. 7-21. He further argued: "Edward Walker is the logical person that who did all of these things, who has covered, who has lied, who has weaved this web of lies." App. p. 662, lns. 22-24.

During closing, he also argued that the only footprints by where Walker said Petitioner came to the car where Walker's, the testimony established that Walker and Ware were in the car when the shooting occurred, and there simply was no evidence Petitioner was involved. App. pp.

627, 628, 631. In sum, he argued: “The only thing that exists is three people lying and covering for one another.” App. p. 653, lns. 6-7.

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