STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 16 2018

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Aiken County  
Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge S.C. SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate Case No. 2017-002055  
\_\_\_\_\_

CORNELL DEVON TYLER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

#### *Prosecutorial Misconduct*

Petitioner concedes this cannot be a Brady<sup>2</sup> violation by the State, but seems to assert that Trial Counsel should have discovered this information before the trial, and his lack of knowledge was due to an incomplete investigation.<sup>3</sup> Regardless, Petitioner still asserts prosecutorial misconduct based on Gleaton’s testimony that Solicitor Weeks threatened him out of changing his story to the “truth.” Petitioner further accuses the Solicitor of knowing Gleaton’s testimony was not complete, which resulted in prosecutorial misconduct.

Solicitor Weeks testified he had heard “a bunch of versions of the stories in this case,” and he recalled Gleaton’s statement and interview with the Sheriff’s Department. He could not specifically recall meeting with Gleaton before the second trial, and did not have a recollection of Gleaton changing his story before the new trial. Weeks explained:

I just know that any time a witness’ testimony changed to my knowledge, the first person that got told about it was Byron Gipson (Trial Counsel) because, you

---

<sup>2</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). “Petitioner concedes that a Brady claim is not complete since the information that was not disclosed by Mr. Gleaton or the State was available, and per Mr. Gleaton disclosed, to the defense.” PWC at 19.

<sup>3</sup> Any allegation of Trial Counsel’s failure to investigate this new information from James Gleaton was never raised or ruled upon by the lower court, and is not properly raised now, and is accordingly not preserved for appellate review.

know, we're always preparing all the way up to the ball being tossed in the air. And lots of times witnesses do have changes in their testimony, and as soon as they become available to me, I tell the defense lawyer. I was a defense lawyer for 15 years. I appreciate that responsibility.

App. 1005, line 10-18. When asked if he threatened Gleaton in any way, he explained:

I don't know. I don't think I would, I don't think I did. He never really said how I threatened him or I never really understood how I threatened him.

I have discussed with witnesses about perjury, I've discussed with witnesses about contacting witnesses in the duration in between trials or before trials, I've discussed with witnesses a lot of things that they might perceive – people think I threaten them just because I'm six-foot-eight and weigh entirely too much.

But as far as physically threatening or legally threatening, I'm pretty sure he had a lawyer with him and if his rights would have been offended or if I would have done anything out of the way with Mr. Gleaton, they would have been all over me. But honestly, I don't remember threatening him. I've raised my voice with witnesses, I've, you know, told them what I was going to do when I went to trial, but I don't remember threatening Mr. Gleaton.

App. 1005, line 20 – 1006, line 14. He stated that, to his knowledge, he did not tell Gleaton he would stay in jail longer if he did not testify one way or another. App. 1006, line 15-18. Weeks testified he did not withhold anything from the defense in this case. App. 1006, line 19-21. Finally, Weeks insisted that he did not commit prosecutorial misconduct as alleged, and explained that Trial Counsel had total access to his file and his witnesses. App. 1008. He felt like they had a “clean” trial, and he did not know of anything that he did differently than he usually does. App. 1008-1009.

This testimony in the record is clearly probative evidence supporting the PCR court's finding that Weeks did not commit prosecutorial misconduct. The PCR court held:

This Court finds Gleaton's testimony that he was threatened to be not credible. Solicitor Weeks testified that he did not threaten Gleaton in any way or tell him how to testify at trial. Solicitor Weeks chose not to use Gleaton as a witness for the State at the second trial, so he would not have had any reason to tell him how to testify. This Court finds that [Petitioner] has failed to prove any kind of

misconduct on behalf of the Solicitor in this case, and this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

App. 1234.

Respondent concedes the PCR court's ruling that prosecutorial misconduct is not an issue for post-conviction relief is improper under the facts and circumstances of this case, because the issue as presented is not a direct appeal issue. However, the PCR court's ruling should not be dismissed, as this error of law was a harmless error. After this erroneous finding, the PCR court went on to address the merits of the issues and denied the allegation based on the testimony presented at trial. Because the finding is supported by probative evidence, it should be upheld.

*Newly discovered evidence*

Secondly, Petitioner's assertion that he is entitled to a new trial on the basis that Gleaton's recanted testimony constitutes newly discovered evidence is meritless. A party requesting a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must show that the evidence (1) Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had; (2) Has been discovered since the trial; (3) Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and, (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching. Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 611-12, 299 S.E.2d 854, 855 (1983).

Here, the PCR court found Gleaton's testimony did not satisfy all five of these requirements. The PCR court explained:

The testimony likely would not change the outcome of the trial because Gleaton would be impeached with his prior testimony from multiple statements to law enforcement as well as testimony from the first and second trial, which directly rebuts his new testimony. [Petitioner] must also prove that the new testimony could not have been discovered before the trial with due diligence, yet [Petitioner] himself testified that he knew of Gleaton's new testimony before the second trial, yet they did not use it. The testimony is not material to the issue of guilt or innocence; his new testimony involves seeing another codefendant, Edward Walker, hanging out of the vehicle with a gun. This new testimony does not prove

that [Petitioner] was not also in the car or shooting at the victim, as well. At the trial, there was testimony presented that there may have been more than one shooter in the vehicle. Gleaton's testimony that he saw Edward Walker with a gun does not mean that Cornell Tyler could not possibly have been in the car with a gun, as well.

This Court further finds Gleaton's recantation testimony unreliable and incredible. South Carolina courts are held to a high standard when considering the credibility of recantation testimony. "We have said that "(Recantation of testimony ordinarily is unreliable and should be subjected to the closest scrutiny when offered as ground for a new trial." State v. Wright, 269 S.C. 414, 421, 237 S.E.2d 764, 768 (1977) (citing State v. Whitener, 228 S.C. 244, 89 S.E.2d 701." State v. Mavfield, 235 S.C. 11, 35, 109 S.E.2d 716, 729 (1959)). Gleaton testified twice under oath before a jury that he could not see anyone in the vehicle. Now, at the evidentiary hearing, he claims that he was lying on the stand at the first two trials and wants to explain what really happened, that he actually saw Edward Walker in the car with a rifle. This Court finds Gleaton's testimony incredible.

Because [Petitioner] failed to prove all five elements of newly discovered evidence, and because Gleaton's testimony is unreliable and incredible, this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

App. 1232-1233. The PCR court correctly pointed out that the alleged new testimony failed to satisfy the first, third,<sup>4</sup> and fourth factors of the test for newly discovered evidence. The PCR court further found Gleaton's testimony to be not credible and unreliable in light of his prior testimony under oath. This Court gives great deference to credibility findings made by the PCR court. Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010). Accordingly, this "new" testimony cannot qualify as newly discovered evidence which would entitle Petitioner to a new trial.

#### *Ineffective Assistance of Counsel*

Finally, Petitioner's assertions of ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failure to elicit or utilize the additional testimony from Gleaton are all meritless, as the PCR court found Gleaton's recanted testimony was not credible, and Trial Counsel credibly testified he was not

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Trial Counsel credibly testified he was never told about the new testimony, this does not affect the analysis of the third factor of the newly discovered evidence test. If Gleaton did, in fact, have a true version of events to share, they could have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence.

told about the new version of events from Gleaton. Trial Counsel cannot be deficient for failing to use information that he has no reason to believe exists. Additionally, there can be no resulting prejudice from the failure to use testimony which was found incredible and would not have changed the outcome of the trial. The PCR court found Gleaton's testimony made no difference to the outcome of the trial because, even if he had seen Edward Walker in the vehicle shooting, there was testimony presented that there were multiple shooters in the car, so it cannot discount the possibility that Petitioner was also in the car, shooting, as found by the jury. Accordingly, because Trial Counsel was not deficient and there was no resulting prejudice, this Court should deny certiorari on all issues relating to Gleaton's testimony.

**III. The PCR court properly ruled that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's omission of the permissive inference malice jury instruction where there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's malice apart from the use of a deadly weapon, and therefore there is no resulting prejudice.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in failing to find prejudice from Trial Counsel's failure to object to the trial court's omission of the permissive inference jury instruction during the malice charge at trial. Petitioner argues that, regardless of the strong evidence of inferred malice in this case, because there was no express malice in the specific facts of this case, the jury must have been prejudiced by the lack of a permissive inference jury instruction. This cannot be true, because a finding of *express* malice is not required for a murder conviction, and overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's inferred malice prevents a prejudicial effect from the omission of the permissive inference language, as the jury would have found Petitioner acted with malice even if they had been instructed that the inference of malice is simply an evidentiary fact to consider.

“Murder” is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (1976). “‘Malice’ is the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong.” State v. Stuckey, 347 S.C. 484, 502, 556 S.E.2d 403, 412 (Ct. App. 2001). “Malice is defined as a ‘formed purpose and design to do a wrongful act under the circumstances that exclude any legal right to do it.’” Hill v. State, 350 S.C. 465, 472, 567 S.E.2d 847, 851 (2002) (citing State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000)). Although implied malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon, and from conduct showing a total disregard for human life, the inference is simply an evidentiary factor to be taken into account by the jury in making its determination of the existence of malice. See State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417, 421, 308 S.E.2d 781, 784 (1983), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991).

This explanation to the jury that the inference of malice is only a factor to consider is referred to as the “permissive inference instruction” and is required by this Court in a valid jury instruction. Elmore warned the bench that “only slight deviations from this charge will be tolerated.” 279 S.C. at 421, 308 S.C. at 784. This Court has held that a defense attorney can be deficient for failing to object to the trial court’s omission or deviation from the required permissive inference instruction. See Gibson v. State, 416 S.C. 260, 265, 786 S.E.2d 121, 124 (2016), reh'g denied (June 15, 2016). In the present case, the trial court did not include a permissive inference instruction, and Trial Counsel did not object. App. 717. Accordingly, the PCR court found Trial Counsel was deficient in his failure to object. App. 1238.

However, the PCR court properly found there was no resulting prejudice from Trial Counsel’s failure to object. “In determining whether petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel’s deficient performance, this Court must decide whether the erroneous malice instruction

contributed to the verdict based on all the evidence presented to the jury.” Gibson, 416 S.C. at 265, 786 S.E.2d at 124. “The Court must weigh the significance of the presumption to the jury against the other evidence of malice considered by the jury without the erroneous malice charge.” Id. (citing Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 657 S.E.2d 760 (2008)). Based on the evidence presented at trial of Petitioner’s malice, the PCR court found the following:

The evidence presented at trial showed the jury that [Petitioner] and the men with him at the time saw a truck slow down in front of his house in the very early hours of the morning. [Petitioner’s] brother ran into the road with a pistol and shot at the truck as it sped away. The men piled into a vehicle, and, without knowing who was in the truck or why they were in front of their house, they pursued a high speed chase behind the truck. [Petitioner] used a long rifle to shoot from his vehicle at the truck several times, striking both victims in the truck, until the truck ran off the road, flipped, and crashed in a field. [Petitioner] then returned to his home and fled the scene.

This Court concludes that the erroneous malice instruction did not contribute to the verdict based on all of the evidence presented to the jury. In this case, the jury need not have relied on the presumption of malice from the use of a deadly weapon to find that [Petitioner] acted with malice in the commission of the crime. In addition to there being no evidence that would have reduced, mitigated, excused, or justified the homicide, there was overwhelming evidence of malice apart from the use of a deadly weapon. Accordingly, [Petitioner] was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object. Therefore, even though Trial Counsel was deficient for failing to object to this language, there was no prejudice to [Petitioner] in this case. This allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

App. 1239-1240.

The PCR court’s findings are clearly based on probative evidence in the record, as it used the facts of the case to show overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s malice toward both victims. The overwhelming evidence of malice is enough to contradict the presumption of malice from Petitioner’s use of a deadly weapon as well as from Petitioner’s conduct showing a total disregard for human life. This case is extremely different from Gibson, where this Court found prejudice because “there was little evidence of malice aside from the use of a gun.” 416 S.C. at

266, 786 S.E.2d at 124. Petitioner's conduct, where he actively pursued a high speed chase of the victims while shooting at them out repeatedly out the window of the car, clearly shows malicious intent.

Accordingly, because overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's malice prevents any prejudice from the omission of the permissive inference instruction, Trial Counsel was not ineffective in his failure to object, and this Court should deny certiorari.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.